1980

Penelko, Inc., A Utah Corporation v. Price Rentals,  
Inc., A Utah Corporation And John Price  
Associates, Inc., A Utah Corporation, Et Al. :  
Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

### NATURE OF THE CASE

Action for damages and injunctive relief and attorney's fees for alleged willful violation of appellant's lease.

### DISPOSITION BY THE LOWER COURT

In a jury trial a general verdict was rendered in favor of appellant in the amount of \$65,000. The judgment on this verdict is the subject of respondent Price Rentals, Inc. appeal in Appeal No. 16588. Following the jury's verdict and judgment thereon, the lower court, the Honorable Bryant H. Croft presiding, on July 2, 1979, denied plaintiff's motion for injunctive relief and by an order filed September 12, 1979, denied appellant's motion to assess attorney's fees. (1216, 1659)

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant, Penelko, Inc. seeks reversal of the lower court's order filed July 2, 1979, denying plaintiff's motion for injunctive relief and an order of the Supreme Court ordering injunctive relief as prayed for in the complaint.

Appellant, Penelko, Inc. also seeks reversal of the lower court's order filed September 12, 1979, denying appellant's motion for attorney's fees and an order of the Supreme Court directing the lower court to fix appellant's attorney's fees including reasonable attorney's fees for work on Price Rentals, Inc. Appeal No. 16588, and Penelko, Inc. Appeal

## MATERIAL FACTS OF THE CASE

The facts of this cause are set forth in Penelko, Inc.'s Respondent's Brief in Appeal No. 16588. We adopt these facts by reference and set forth below only such additional facts as are particularly relevant to this appeal by Penelko, Inc. (appellant) seeking reversal of the trial court's orders denying it equitable relief and denying it attorney's fees.

### 1. Particular Facts Relating to Appellant's Motion for Injunctive Relief

On March 24, 1979, the jury brought in a general verdict in favor of plaintiff, Penelko, Inc., the appellant herein, on this appeal. (1104)

Based on this verdict, which constituted a finding by the jury that Price Rentals, Inc. had violated appellant's lease, appellant on June 14, 1979, moved for injunctive relief. (1134) The motion for injunctive relief was denied by the court on July 2, 1979. (1216, 1217)

### 2. Particular Facts Relating to Appellant's Motion for Attorney's Fees

The jury's findings by its general verdict was that Price Rentals, Inc. had violated appellant's lease. Paragraph 20 of the lease provided that in the event either party shall fail to perform this lease and agreement according to its terms, such party hereby agrees to pay all costs and expenses (including reasonably attorney's fees). (See paragraph 20 Exh. 1-P)

Paragraph 2 of Malstroms's lease to Price Rentals, Inc. dated December 1, 1977, provides that respondent lessee Price

Rentals, Inc. shall be in full possession and control of the leased premises and that the Penelko lease described in Exhibit "A" attached to the agreement is sold, assigned and transferred in its entirety by the lessor to lessees Price Rentals, Inc. (Paragraph 2 page 3 of Malstrom's lease to Price Rentals, Inc. Exh. 7-P)

Exhibit "A" of Malstrom's lease to Price Rentals, Inc. provides that Price Rentals, Inc. is subject to Penelko's lease. (See page 2 Exhibit "A" of Exh. 7-P) The lease is signed by the Malstroms and by Price Rentals, Inc. by John Price, president. John Price guarantees the prompt and faithful performance of all of the obligations of the tenant in the lease. (See page 20 of Exh. 7-P)

All the violations of appellant's lease were committed by respondent Price Rentals, Inc. as is set forth in "MATERIAL FACTS OF THE CASE" in Penelko's respondent's brief, Appeal No. 16588 incorporated herein by reference.

Prior to the conclusion of the trial in this cause, appellant submitted instructions to the jury on attorney's fees. These instructions were not given by the court. The court writing on the instructions: "Denied--to be determined by the court." And this was reiterated in chambers by the court. (See Judge Croft's memorandum decision, 1653) Consequently, appellant adduced no evidence to the jury regarding attorney's fees.

After the jury's verdict and the judgment thereon, and on July 9, 1979, appellant moved for attorney's fees.



(1104 - 1108, 1221) Thereafter, on July 19, 1979, Price Rentals, Inc. filed its Motion for Appeal. (1231)

Appellant's attorney, William H. Henderson, filed a detailed affidavit showing the services performed in this cause and requesting attorney's fees for his work in the amount of \$15,000. (1225 - 1230) Co-counsel Mark Miner also filed a like affidavit in support of attorney's fees for his services in the amount of \$15,000 making a total amount requested for attorney's fees of \$30,000. (1245 - 1247)

On September 11, 1979, Judge Croft filed his memorandum decision denying appellant's attorney's fees. (1649 - 1645)

In Judge Croft's memorandum decision the court found that appellant had not waived its claim for attorney's fees by not submitting evidence inasmuch as appellant was in effect precluded from submitting evidence by reason of the court's denial of its instruction on attorney's fees. (1654)

The court also found that it did not lose jurisdiction to rule on attorney's fees because Price Rentals, Inc. had filed its notice of appeal before it had ruled on appellant's motion for attorney's fees. The court ruled that it retained jurisdiction on this undecided issue. (1653 - 1654)

The court also ruled that the issue of attorney's fees was for the court. (1653)

The court further found that the cause was submitted to the jury, "Based upon a breach of plaintiff's [appellant's] lease". And in such case it mattered not "whether the alleged breach of the lease smacks of tort or contract." (1655)

The lower court, per Judge Croft in his memorandum decision, denied appellant's motion for attorney's fees on the sole ground that there was lack of privity between appellant and Price Rentals, Inc. and that as the covenant for attorney's fees in appellant's lease was not one running with the land, it was not binding on Price Rentals, Inc., citing Latses v. Nick, Inc. 99 Utah 214, 104 p. 2d 619, (1655 - 1656)

On September 14, 1979, formal order denying appellant's motion for attorney's fees was filed with the court. The court wrote in this order denying attorney's fees, "For the reason set forth in the memorandum decision." (1659)

#### ARGUMENT

1. Respondent's Willfull Tresspass on Appellant's Property and Willful Violation of its Lease Relating to Appellant's Property Entitled Appellant to Injunctive Relief as a Matter of Law

One property right willfully violated by respondent was its landscaping over appellant's leased parking space, including erection of the flagpole and the building of a roadway over such space. This was done with knowledge of appellant's lease and over its protests, as mentioned in "MATERIAL FACTS OF THE CASE", Penelko's Respondent's Brief.

The very least that Penelko, Inc. owned under paragraph 3 of its lease, was to use the leased parking place "in common with . . . tenants of adjoining properties", which in this case was Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant. (See

paragraphs 3 and 7, page 2, Exh. 1-P) Consequently, Price Rentals' construction on the parking and preventing Penelko's use of it in common with Perkins' Cake & Steak or otherwise, entitled appellant to a mandatory injunction as a matter of law, removing the roadway and the landscaping over this leased parking space.

Another property right, willfully violated by respondent Price Rentals, Inc. was the construction of the Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant. As is pointed out in "MATERIAL FACTS OF CASE" Penelko's appellant's brief; paragraph 7 of Penelko's lease provided that its lessor, the Malstroms, must provide in the leases of adjoining properties, "similar agreements and agreements on use of parking in common" and that neither Malstroms "Offer to Lease" or lease to Price Rentals or Price Rentals' lease to Perkins' Cake & Steak contained a similar covenant. Further, Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant was constructed on approximately all the land leased and did not provide any common parking space. It did not even provide 24 spaces required by the Sandy City C. U. P. Ordinance. This factual situation stands uncontradicted in the record, and is found by the jury in its award of damages to appellant. Consequently, as a matter of law, the court should order respondent Price Rentals, Inc. to remove the Perkins' Cake & Steak Restaurant.

The court has authority to grant a mandatory injunction. Rule 65A, URCP, §(e)(4) provides for injunctive relief, "in all other cases where an injunction would be proper in equity."

In Henderson v. Ogden City Ry Co., 7 U. 199, 26, p. 286, (1891), the court granted a mandatory injunction as well as a preventive writ when defendant piled obstructions on plaintiff's road bed.

Mandatory injunction should not be denied where encroachment was intentional.

This fundamental rule was pronounced and applied in Agmar v. Solomon, 87 Cal. App. 127, 261, p. 1029 (1927),

But as the encroachment was intentional and was not the result of accident or innocent mistake, the cost of removing it or the absence of damage to owner of the land encroached on will not defeat the right of such owner to a mandatory injunction.

See to same effect: Lusk v. Krejci, 187 Cal. App. 2d 553, 9 Cal. Rptr. 703 (1960); Branch Realty, Inc. v. Waldbaum, Inc. 249 N.Y.S. 2d 32 (1964); City of Dunsmuir v. Silva, 154 Cal. App. 2d 925, 317 P. 2d 653 (1957); Peters v. Davis, 426 Pa. 231, A. 2d 748 (1967).

If a property owner, deliberately and intentionally violates a valid express restriction running with the land or intentionally 'takes a chance' the appropriate remedy is a mandatory injunction to eradicate the violation. (our emphasis)

Defendant Price Rentals, Inc.'s encroachment on plaintiff's parking space is by its nature, continuous. This calls for a mandatory injunction.

Needle v. Scheinberg, 187 Md. 169, 49 A 2d 334 (1946).

It has long been recognized that, though a fugitive and temporary trespass will not be enjoined, a continuing trespass will be enjoined if it would be ruinous or irreparable, or would impair the just enjoyment of the property.

See Barrell v. Renehan, 114 Vt. 23, 39 A2d 330 (1944).

See also Ercanbrack v. Clark, 79 Utah 233, 8 P2d P. 1093 (1932).

2. Respondent Price Rentals, Inc. Assumed the Obligations of Appellant's Lease and Consequently is Responsible for Attorney's Fees as is Provided in the Lease.

As is mentioned above, respondent Price Rentals, Inc. by written agreement, specifically agreed to take the assignment of appellant's lease subject to appellant's lease. Price Rentals, Inc. took possession of the property and did all the acts complained of in violation of Penelko, Inc.'s lease.

Authorities are not numerous. For where an assignee signs an agreement accepting a lease subject to a prior lease, it would appear A Fortiori that under contract law, the assignee is subject to the terms of the prior lease.

The authorities appellant has found and cites below all agree that when a subsequent lease agrees in writing to take a lease subject to the prior lease, it is bound by the provisions of the prior lease, whether or not the provision is one that is appurtenant to and would run with the land.

In Pickler v. Mershon (Iowa) 236 NW 382 (1931) by the provisions of the assignment, "the lessees assigned and the assignee accepted the lease." At issue was the subsequent assignee's liability for rent under the original lease which provision was not appurtenant and not running with the land.

If a mere naked assignment of the right, title, and interest of the lessees was all that was

intended, the signature of the appellees thereto was unnecessary. Where the lessee, in a written lease of land, assigns the lease to another, who accepts in writing the assignment, the latter executes a contract in writing, binding him to perform the conditions of the lease though in the writing there may be no mention of the obligations assumed.

See Schmidt v. Louisville & N. R. Co., 139 Ky. 81, 129 332, 335. In Schmidt the lessee assigned its lease. The original lessee had agreed to operate the railroad line and apply the net earnings to payment of bonds. The issue was whether the assignee was bound by this covenant inasmuch as it was not one that was appurtenant to or ran with the land. The assignment and the acceptance was in writing. The question at issue was whether this acceptance by the assignee bound it on all provisions of the lease including the obligations to run the railroad and pay on the bonds. It was argued that it was not binding in that nowhere in the papers was there any mention of the fact that this obligation was assumed. The court ruled:

It would be idle, in view of what has been written in the other opinions supra concerning the effect of the various writings between these corporations, to say that the Louisville & Nashville Railroad Company did not assume all the obligations imposed by the lease that it purchased, or that it only took over so much of it as was beneficial to it and rejected the balance. It took it with all its burdens and has acted under and by virtue of it. When it signed the paper of which the lease was a part, it was the same in effect as if it had signed the lease itself. If the lessee, in a written contract concerning land, assigns his lease to another, and that other accepts in writing the assignment, we cannot doubt that this is a contract in writing signed by him to perform the conditions of the lease accepted, although in the specific writing that he sign there may be no mention of

what obligation he has assumed. It is not necessary that there should be. Why should he accept in writing a lease, and substitute himself for the lessee, unless it be to do all the lessor had agreed to do? If the party accepting the lease does not desire or intend to do this, or if it is not the purpose of the acceptance of the lease to take it with all its burdens as well as benefits, the assignee can easily insert conditions in the acceptance that will exempt him from such liability as he does not care to assume. (our emphasis)

Realty & Rebuilding Co. v. Rea, 184 Cal. 565, 194

P. 1024 (1920) also so holds. The lease contained a provision obligating the lessees to erect buildings, pay rent, and provide repairs. The lease was assigned. The lessee elected to extend the terms of the lease by a Notice of Election that provided that election was "subject to all the terms and conditions in said lease contained." In holding that the lessee and assignee were equally bound by the covenants, the court ruled:

This express declaration that the parties were to be governed by the covenants of the lease, signed by the assignee, and accepted by the lessor definitely created and established a contractual relation between the lessor and the assignee, and the covenants of the lease were made the measure of the rights and liabilities of the parties for the extended three-year period.

The case of Latses v. Nick Floor, Inc. 99 Utah 214, 104 P2d 619 (1940) cited by Judge Croft in support of his order denying plaintiff's attorney's fees does not support Judge Croft's holding. In Latses, there was no sale or transfer or subsequent lease by their original lessor in writing whereby the lease was transferred subject to the terms of the original lease. Nor was there any assignment by the lessor



by written document wherein it was taken subject to the terms of the lease. There was no prior contract whatsoever between the parties.

In Latses the plaintiffs purchased the property. The defendant was a tenant in possession. The tenants had a lease with the former owners. The purchasers had no actual knowledge of the provisions of the lease but by the possession of the tenant was put on inquiry of defendant's occupancy. The court held them bound by such claims relating to those running with the land, but as there was no contract or privity, they were not bound on the personal covenant for attorney's fees.

In the instant case there was privity of contract between Malstroms and Price Rentals, Inc. As mentioned, Price Rentals, Inc., by written agreement, purchased (and subleased) Malstroms' Penelko lease subject to the obligations of the Penelko lease.

3. Respondent's Contention in the Lower Court That by Reason of this Appeal the Trial Court was Divested of Jurisdiction to Rule on Attorney's Fees is Likewise Without Merit.

As the court pointed out in its memorandum decision, the appellant's motion for allowance and assessment of attorney's fees was filed July 9, 1979. And subsequent to that, July 19, 1979 respondent filed its Notice of Appeal. As the lower court pointed out, the appeal did not deprive the court of jurisdiction to rule on the undecided issue before the appeal was filed; namely, the issue of attorney's fees.

(1649)

4. Respondent's Contention in the Lower Court that Because Respondent's Breach of Appellant's Lease



Was Tortious in Nature, Appellant was not Entitled to Attorney's Fees is Clearly Without Merit as was Ruled by the Trial Court in its Memorandum Decision

The court's instructions to the jury disclosed that the case was submitted to the jury based upon a breach of appellant's rights under its lease. And the trial court ruled that it matters not whether alleged breach of the lease was tortious in nature. It would appear on the face of it that a tortious violation of the lease is even more demanding of a right to attorney's fees than a non-tortious violation. And the courts so hold.

In Stockton Theaters v. Palermo, 124 Cal. App. 2d 872, 53 Cal. Rptr. 628 (1966) (a case strikingly similar to the instant case) the court allowed plaintiff lessee attorney's fees for defendant's tortious violations of the lease, ruling:

Plaintiff's action sought relief against the defendants (lessors) for their tortious invasion of the plaintiff's rights arising out of the lease. The defendants did not prevail in the action but the plaintiff did prevail. Under the provisions of the lease the plaintiff was entitled to an award of reasonable attorney's fees. (Ansco Const. Co. v. Ocean View Estates, 196 Cal. App. 2d 235, 337, p2d 146.) (our emphasis)

The case of Malibu Lake Mountain Club, Ltd. v. Smith, 18 Cal. App. 31, 95 Cal. Rptr., 553 (1971) is on all fours with the instant case except that the contract involved was not a lease but the by-laws of the club.

In Malibu, the club brought suit under the by-laws against the club members. The by-laws covered contractual violations and tortious ones and provided for attorney's fees to enforce the obligation of the members under the by-laws.

The court gave short thrift to defendants' contention that attorney's fees cannot be given for tortious acts when provided for by contract, ruling:

The validity of contractual provisions for the payment of attorney fees in case of litigation is too well settled to allow of re-examination at this date. (See, for example, Heidt v. Miller Air Conditioning Co. (1969) 271 Cal App 2d 135, 74 Cal Rptr 695, and authorities there cited there can be no question that the by-laws, above quoted, apply to any and all litigation between the club and its members, whether sounding in tort or in contract and whether by way of suit, defense, cross-complaint or counterclaim. Appellant, however, argues that assuming the validity of contracts to pay attorney fees in actions sounding in contract, it is against public policy to allow such a contract in cases of torts. However, we do not deal here with a cause of action quite independent of the basic contractual arrangement between Smith and the club. The counterclaim, admittedly based on the Tooke theory, rested upon the alleged breach by the club of the implied covenants attached to Smith's membership. As such it was clearly within the provisions of section 6 of the by-laws and not against any public policy of which we are aware.<sup>3</sup> (Citing authorities) (our emphasis)

Our Supreme Court, in Petersen v. Hodges, 121 Utah 72 239 P2d 180, (1951) recognized the well-settled rule that there may be recovery of attorney's fees in a lease provision providing for same.

We have checked authorities from such sources as the ALR Reports, Amer Jur 2d and CJS and have Shepardized cases touching the issue. We have found no case denying a litigant attorney's fees when same is provided for by lease or contract and whether such violation is tortious or otherwise. Appellant respectfully submits it should not be denied attorney's fees in the instant case.

5. Respondent's Basic Contention in the Lower Court That the Issue of Attorney's Fees Was One in Fact For the Jury and Not for the Court, Likewise Lacks Merit.

As we have pointed out above, the trial court foreclosed appellant's introduction of evidence to the jury by the refusal to accept its proposed instructions and also stating that this was an issue for the court. Consequently, whether or not the issue of attorney's fees was for the jury or the trial judge, the cause should be reversed and submitted to either a trial judge or a jury for determination.

But appellant submits (after review of the authorities) that the issue is clearly one for the trial judge to decide--not the jury.

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