1980

Penelko, Inc., A Utah Corporation v. Price Rentals,
Inc., A Utah Corporation And John Price
Associates, Inc., A Utah Corporation, Et Al. :
Respondent's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO GRANT A MANDATORY INJUNCTION AND, IN ANY EVENT, THE QUESTION CONCERNING INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IS MOOT BECAUSE APPELLANT HAS SOLD ITS THEATER AND LEASEHOLD PROPERTY.

A. Appellant's Claim For A Mandatory Injunction Is Moot.

Injunctive relief should not be awarded where events have rendered such relief unnecessary or ineffectual or where the question becomes moot due to changed circumstances that occur during the course of a pending action or appeal. Paul v. Milk Depots, Inc., 41 Cal.Rptr. 468, 396 P.2d 924, 926-27 (1964); see also Roosendaal Construction and Mining Corporation v. Holman, 28 Utah 2d 396, 503 P.2d 446, 448 (1972). If, during the course of a pending action, a plaintiff sells the property to which the requested injunction pertains, he loses his right to such relief. In Mendez v. Bowie, 118 F.2d 435, 439 (1st Cir. 1941), cert. den. sub nom Rios v. Bowie, 314 U.S. 639 (1941), the court stated:

The owner of the premises, as long as he retains the title, has an interest in restraining the trespass which affects the value of his property. . . . The right of action for an injunction is an incident of the ownership of the property. The right of action for damages is personal to the owner and still remains with him after he has disposed of the property; and when he has ceased to be the owner it is all there is left of his cause of action, for, as he has no further interest in the premises, he has no right to ask for an injunction . . . and, if he has already begun a suit for an injunction and damages . . . he is no longer entitled to an injunction because he has ceased to be the owner. . . . The grantee who has taken title to the premises alone has an interest in obtaining an injunction. That right belongs to him exclusively. Nobody else has any interest in it.

It is also the law of this jurisdiction that a mandatory injunction, such as that sought by appellant in the present action, should be denied where there is little or no benefit to the complainant. Salt Lake County v. Kartchner, 552 P.2d 136, 139 (Utah 1976).

In the present case, appellant is barred from seeking a mandatory injunction, compelling removal of the restaurant, driveway and curb and landscaping, because it has sold its theater building and its rights under the subject ground lease. Not only has appellant given up its right to injunctive relief as a result of the sale, but the imposition of a mandatory injunction when appellant no longer has any interest in the property would confer no benefit on appellant within the meaning of Kartchner. Accordingly, the lower court's order denying appellant's motion for an injunction should be upheld.

B. Appellant Has Failed To Show That It Is Entitled To A Mandatory Injunction In The Present Action.

Appellant contends that it is entitled to a mandatory injunction as a matter of law because respondent's construction of the restaurant, curb landscaping, and driveway was intentional and that placement of the driveway, curb and landscaping in the common parking area was not the result of accident or innocent mistake. Appellant further states that such an injunction should be issued without consideration of the equities of the case where a continuing trespass is ruinous or irreparable, or impairs the just enjoyment of the subject property. This position, however, is not supported by Utah law, nor can it be maintained on appeal since plaintiff failed to meet its burden in proving by clear and convincing evidence that respondent's conduct was intentional or that the alleged trespasses would be ruinous or irreparable, or would impair appellant's just enjoyment of the property.

In Salt Lake County v. Kartchner, supra at 138, the Court stated that a mandatory injunction should be denied where the granting of such an injunction would be inconsistent with basic principles of justice and equity, even though it is within the scope of relief available in equity courts. The Court then observed that, under the facts before it, the effect of a mandatory injunction would to be destroy for all practical purposes an enclosed carport valued at \$2,000.00

and that such relief should never be granted where it might operate inequitably or oppressively. Id. at 140. As noted above, the Court also emphasized that a mandatory injunction should be denied where there is little or no benefit to the complainant. Id. at 139.

The Court's position that equitable factors should be considered is consistent with that of other jurisdictions. In Hickman v. Sixth Dimension Custom Homes, Inc., 543 P.2d 1043, 1044 (Ore. 1975), for example, the Court stated that mandatory injunctions are not regarded with judicial favor and are used only with caution and in cases of great necessity. Such relief, according to the court, depends upon broad principles of equity and, clearly, may be denied in the court's discretion in accordance with the equities and justice of the case. The Court then stated:

The court may refuse an injunction in certain cases where the hardship caused to the defendant by the injunction would greatly outweigh the benefit resulting to the plaintiff. The injunction does not issue as a matter of absolute or unqualified right but is subject to the sound discretion of the Court. Although the authorities have not uniformly adopted the comparative injury doctrine, we are convinced that it represents the better rule. Id. at 1045.

See also, Stuart v. Titus, 400 P.2d 797, 800 (Okla. 1965); Borgen v. Wigglesworth, 369 P.2d 360, 363-64 (Kan. 1962); Clawson v. Garrison, 3 Kan.App.2d 188, 592 P.2d 117, 128 (Kan. 1979).

The proper standard to be applied in the present case, therefore, is whether the hardship caused to respondent by the requested injunction would greatly outweigh the benefit resulting to appellant or whether it would operate inequitably or oppressively. When the equities in the present case are balanced against the rules set forth by this Court, it is clear that the granting of a mandatory injunction to a party who no longer has any interest in the property would create substantial hardship and unnecessary expense without any benefit to appellant. Further, inasmuch as Sandy City expressly required construction of the driveway, landscaped area and associated curb as a traffic control device to regulate traffic to and from the common parking facility, such an injunction would cause immediate conflict with a requirement imposed by a governmental entity that is not a party to the present action. It seems reasonable to conclude that the court weighed the various burdens and benefits related to the imposition of such a drastic remedy and concluded that in light of the substantial hardship that would result to respondent, injunctive relief was not appropriate under the circumstances. Such a determination would not be an abuse of the Court's discretion.

It will also be noted that plaintiff never requested the court to submit to the jury the issue of whether respondent's

construction of the subject improvements was intentional, whether it would be ruinous or irreparable, or whether it would impair the just enjoyment of the property, as appellant now argues on appeal.

In this regard, a party seeking injunctive relief has the burden of proving the elements that entitle him to such relief. See Port of Seattle v. International Longshoremen's and Warehousemen's Union, 52 Wash.2d 317, 324 P.2d 1099, 1100 (1958); E. H. Renzel Co. v. Warehousemen's Union, 16 P.2d 369, 106 P.2d 1, 3 (1940). The standard of proof necessary in cases where injunctions are sought is clear and convincing evidence. Jewett v. Deerhorn Enterprises, Inc., 281 Ore. 469, 575 P.2d 164, 166 (1978); Borgen v. Wigglesworth, supra at 363-64; Clawson v. Garrison, supra at 128. If the court is in doubt as to whether injunctive relief is proper, such relief should be denied. State v. Reid, 190 Kan. 376, 375 P.2d 588, 592 (1962); City and County of Denver v. Glendale Water and Sanitation District, 380 P.2d 553, 555 (Col. 1963).

Even under appellant's own theory, if respondent's alleged conduct was not intentional, but rather the result of accident or innocent mistake, or if the construction of the above improvements would not be ruinous or irreparable or would not impair the just enjoyment of the property, appellant would not be entitled to a mandatory injunction. Agmar

v. Solomon, 87 Cal.App. 127, 261 P. 1029 (1927); Needle v. Scheinberg, 187 Md. 169, 49 App.2d 334 (1946). In determining the relief to be granted in the present case, the lower court had a clear understanding of the relative merits of the claims asserted by the parties. Appellant had not requested the court to submit to the jury the questions of whether respondent's conduct was intentional or accidental or whether the improvements would impair the just enjoyment of appellant's property. In fact, there was substantial evidence to the contrary, and the jury returned a verdict denying punitive damages, which were instructed to be awarded if respondent's conduct was intentional or malicious.

Paragraph 3 of appellant's lease expressly provided that all paving, curbs and gutters and sidewalks would be constructed in the future in accordance with the requirements of "any governmental authority for the use of or access" to the property. Since appellant's leased property was surrounded by vacant land and it was the intention of the parties under paragraph 8 of the lease that an integrated shopping center would be constructed and that the parties would encourage the development of adjoining properties for such a purpose, it was clear that additional facilities would be constructed in the area surrounding appellant's theater, all in accordance with Sandy City's requirements. The court

may well have concluded, and the denial of injunctive relief evidences that the Court did conclude, that respondent's construction of improvements adjacent to and along the edge of the common parking area was not intentional but was undertaken in accordance with respondent's understanding and interpretation of the above lease provisions, even assuming that the court did consider the issues of intent and irreparable injury. Further, when appellant made its motion for injunctive relief, the court was unable to determine from the general verdict of the jury whether construction of the driveway, curb or landscaped area violated any provisions of appellant's lease. In fact, it was impossible to determine whether the verdict was based on a violation of the lease provisions or whether it was based on tortious interference with appellant's business. In view of such uncertainty and with the court's express ruling that construction of the restaurant did not violate any provision of appellant's lease, there simply was no basis in the record for granting a mandatory injunction. The court, therefore, properly denied appellant's motion for an injunction, even assuming for purposes of argument that appellant's standard for injunctive relief is correct.

POINT II

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY'S FEES IN THE PRESENT ACTION.

A. Plaintiff's Claim For Attorney's Fees Is Barred By Lack Of Privity.

In Latses v. Nick Flooring, Inc., supra, this Court reviewed the applicability of an award of attorney's fees in a case similar to the present action. As in the present case, the lease in Latses provided that the parties to the lease agreed to pay all costs and attorney's fees incurred by the other in the event of litigation to enforce the covenants of the lease. In Latses, the landlord-appellant had purchased the subject property and had taken it subject to the tenant-respondent's lease. In an action for breach of lease, the trial court decided in favor of the tenant and awarded him attorney's fees in the amount of \$500. The landlord took exception to the award on the basis that there was no privity between him and the tenant and that the covenant for attorney's fees did not run with the land when he purchased it from the prior owner. On appeal, the Court held:

We are of the opinion that appellants are correct in their version of this part of the case. This was purely a personal covenant as between the parties to the contract. Though appellants purchased the property subject to the tenancy, they did not expressly agree to abide by all the terms of the lease. They would be bound only by covenants in the lease which affected the estate or the interest in the land conveyed or leased. Id. at 625.

The Court therefore vacated the judgment for attorney's fees.

The provision for attorney's fees in appellant's lease in the present case provides that the successful party in an action to enforce the terms of the lease would be entitled to reasonable attorney's fees. However, when appellant's lessors leased the shopping center to respondent, the lease stated merely that it was "subject to and together with [the] Penelko Theater lease"; it did not expressly provide that respondent would abide by all of the terms of the lease, including the provision for attorney's fees, nor did it contain a provision that all terms would be binding on the assigns of the parties.

Appellant argues in its brief that the sales documents in Latses did not provide that the purchase would be subject to the terms of the lease. (Brief of Appellant, pages 10, 11). It is a basic principle of property law, however, that a purchaser who buys property subject to an outstanding lease takes that property subject to the lease, and the Court so stated in Latses. Berman v. Sinclair Refining Co., 451 P.2d 742, 745 (Colo. 1969); Eldredge v. Jensen, 89 Idaho 243, 404 P.2d 624, 626 (1965). It does not matter whether the sales documents so provide. The lease of the shopping center property to respondent in the present case merely listed the outstanding leases pertaining to the property and

accomplished no more or no less than what the law imposed in any event. Just as in Latses, the property was taken subject to an existing lease, without any provision wherein respondent agreed to be bound by all terms and covenants of the lease. Since, as the Court held in Latses, a covenant for attorney's fees does not run with the land, appellant should not be awarded any attorney's fees in this action. The only parties in privity with plaintiff under the lease were the initial lessors, and those parties were dismissed out of the lawsuit on a motion for a directed verdict upon conclusion of the evidence.

B. Appellant's Claim For Attorney's Fees Is Barred For Failure To Introduce Evidence Of Attorney's Fees During Trial.

The amount of attorney's fees to be awarded in an action at law is a question of fact to be determined by the trier of fact on the basis of proper evidence, just as any other question of fact. FMA Financial Corporation v. Build, Inc., 17 Utah 2d 80, 404 P.2d 670, 673-74 (1965). The only exception to that rule is when the parties stipulate as to the amount or the Court's determination of the amount without submission of evidence. See, id., Swain v Salt Lake Real Estate and Investment Co., 279 P.2d 709, 711 (Utah 1955); Ashworth v Charlesworth, 231 P.2d 724, 729 (Utah 1951).

This Court has held repeatedly that a jury trial should be provided to the parties on all issues of fact raised in legal causes of action. Valley Mortuary v. Fairbanks, 225 P.2d 739, 749 (Utah 1950); Petty v. Clark, 129 P.2d 568, 570 (Utah 1942). In Petty, for example, the Court considered procedures to be used in resolving legal and equitable issues raised in the same case and held:

Where the issues are legal issues, the fact that equitable relief may be prayed for, to carry into effect the judgment based upon the legal issues, is not sufficient to deprive either party of his right to have the legal issues submitted to a jury.

The Court also held that a claim by a plaintiff to recover money owing under a contract is clearly an issue of fact which must be submitted to the jury, as is a claim for attorney's fees. FMA Financial Corporation v. Build, Inc., *supra* at 673-74. Instruction Number 90.50 of the Jury Instructions For Utah, as approved by a committee consisting of judges and practicing attorneys who devoted long hours of work to compile a set of jury instructions upon which counsel could rely, instructs the jury to fix reasonable attorney's fees where such fees are provided for by contract or statute. This instruction reflects the opinion of the judges and lawyers serving on the committee that the question of reasonable attorney's fees is an issue of fact to be submitted to the jury where the jury sits as a trier of fact, and not the judge

presiding over the trial. This instruction and the rules set forth above, of course, do not apply to cases tried under Utah Code Annotated §§34-27-1, 38-1-18, 78-11-10 and 78-37-9. The present case, however, does not fall within the above statutory provisions, and respondent's right to a jury trial on the issue of attorney's fees, as well as all issues of fact, "should be scrupulously safeguarded." See Abdulkadir v. Western Pacific Railroad Co., 318 P.2d 339, 341 (Utah 1957).

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